CITY OF MILWAUKIE PLANNING COMMISSION DESIGN & LANDMARKS COMMITTEE Joint Session MINUTES Milwaukie Public Safety Building 3200 SE Harrison Street THURSDAY, March 17, 2011 6:30 PM

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT

STAFF PRESENT

Jeff Klein, Chair Nick Harris, Vice Chair Scott Churchill Lisa Batey Mark Gamba Russ Stoll Katie Mangle, Planning Director Kenny Asher, Community Development Dir. Susan Shanks, Senior Planner

COMMISSIONERS ABSENT

Chris Wilson

DESIGN & LANDMARK COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Greg Hemer, Chair Jim Perrault, Vice Chair Becky Ives Chantelle Gamba Patty Wisner

1.0 Call to Order – Procedural Matters

Chair Klein called the meeting to order at 6:33 p.m. and read the conduct of meeting format into the record.

DLC Chair Hemer called the Design and Landmarks Committee (DLC) meeting to order.

2.0 Minutes

2.1 Planning Commission – January 11, 2011

Commissioner Batey corrected Page 6, Line 178 to state that Les Poole as a resident of Unincorporated Clackamas County. He was not a resident of Milwaukie.

Commissioner Stoll moved to approve the January 11, 2011, Planning Commission minutes as amended. Commissioner Batey seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.

2.2 Design and Landmarks Committee – February 23, 2011

DLC Chair Hemer noted Lines 81 through 83, which listed items regarding the zoning, should be corrected to make clear for the public record that a transit center was not allowed in that zone.

DLC Member Ives moved to approve the DLC notes dated February 23, 2011, as amended. DLC Vice Chair Perrault seconded the motion, which passed 4-0-1 with DLC Member Gamba abstaining.

3.0 Information Items

Katie Mangle, Planning Director, welcomed new members Russ Stoll to the Planning Commission and Chantelle Gamba to the DLC.

4.0 Audience Participation – This is an opportunity for the public to comment on any item not on the agenda. There was none.

5.0 Joint Session Items

5.1 Summary: Portland to Milwaukie Light Rail Project – Early review of the design for the proposed bridge over Kellogg Creek and McLoughlin Blvd Presenter: TriMet PMLR design team

Ms. Mangle explained that the joint worksession provided an early opportunity for the Planning Commission and DLC to comment on a very important part of the light rail project. Light rail was proposed to open in 2015 and the proposed bridge would be one of the first elements to be constructed as part of the project and therefore one of the first to get permitted. TriMet hoped to submit the application this summer and the public hearings on the needed land use applications would be held in the summer/fall. The light rail project would involve applications regarding Willamette Greenway, downtown Design Review, and Natural Resource review, currently known as Water Quality Resource review. The Commission was the decision-maker for these applications; however, the DLC was a strong advocate and advisor to the Commission on Design Review. She provided an overview of the timeframe for the project applications and reviews, noting the urgency in finalizing certain design elements in order to meet the goals for the light rail completion. No formal actions would be taken, but feedback and direction was being requested by TriMet about some specific elements for the bridge design.

Jeb Doran, Urban Designer, TriMet, explained the Preliminary Engineering (PE) process focused on defining a cost range for the Kellogg Bridge, and the alignment which considered going from the Lake Road Station, across Kellogg Lake and McLoughlin Blvd, and landing at the Trolley Trail. The bridge was a significant structure for the area and they extended the PE to focus some of the important design considerations for the bridge.

- TriMet sought to define better options for the bridge type to create a ribbon in the landscape rather than just a highway on/off ramp bridge style. Staff provided feedback about the community's preferences, and TriMet developed some options that were presented to the public at the community outreach meetings. The public seemed to prefer steel as a building material, but was concerned about the shape of the bridge and how the architectural elements related to things on the ground.
- TriMet sought feedback from the Commission and DLC about the material type, steel vs. concrete; and if steel was the preference, direction about the shape of that material, such as more rhythm and texture or cleaner lines, etc. Input was also wanted about the how the piers interact differently with these elements. Structural decisions were very important right now. Making these decisions would help the architecture and urban design teams further develop their responses regarding the design for presentation in early April.
 - Shortly after returning in April, TriMet would come in for a preapplication meeting, focusing on getting to the 60% design, which was a key time for major decisions on the project; where the project was cost-wise; and if elements could be added back into the project, etc.
 - In July, TriMet would submit a land use application and begin working through the hearings process for approval hopefully by the end of 2011. Many of the elements in the south portion of the light rail line would start quickly. The Trolley Trail and Kellogg Bridge would be some of the first items built, starting in about February 2012, with some advanced utility work being

carried out prior to that. Some of the stations would be coming later in 2012 and continuing into 2013.

The proposed Kellogg Bridge would be 1,700 ft long. Images displayed later in the presentation
would provide context as to how the feature connected to familiar community elements. He was
not certain of the length or height of the I-205 Johnson Creek overpass but would find out that
information in order to provide a familiar scale reference. He believed the overpass was longer
than the proposed bridge.

Carol Mayer-Reed, Landscape Architect/Urban Designer, briefly reviewed the station locations and proposed light rail alignment using an aerial photograph from the 1950s, which showed a pedestrian bridge crossing Kellogg Lake. She indicated key features and properties near the rail line and bridge site, noting the trestle bridge and identifying the view corridors anticipated along the route.

Mark Mikolovich, Design Architect, Waterleaf Architecture, stated he worked primarily on the station areas and station platforms on the alignment but also on the bridge structure with Ms. Mayer-Reed, TriMet, and a group of bridge structural engineers.

- He noted the only intention of the bridge was to carry a light rail vehicle across Kellogg Lake and McLoughlin Blvd. It was not intended to have any pedestrian access with the exception of maintenance personnel.
 - The bridge would also support a pedestrian bridge that would cross Kellogg Lake, and although that had not been the team's focus, some images would show some consideration for such a bridge.
- The bridge would be a significant visual element in the landscape, similar to the trestle. It would be an exceptional part of the larger alignment and frame the foreground to Milwaukie, creating a gateway when arriving from the south.
- Objectives in developing the design of the bridge was a simple, elegant connector between the south end of Milwaukie and the Park Avenue Station while bringing a sense of craft to otherwise standard bridge elements. The bridge was being considered from different vantage points, particularly from the point of view of someone riding or walking on the Trolley Trail or along future paths in the park at Kellogg Lake. These people would more intimately experience the underside of the bridge and its supporting elements.

Mr. Mikolovich presented the PE scheme and three proposed Kellogg Bridge designs via PowerPoint, during which he and the TriMet team responded to questions and comments from the Commission and DLC as noted:

- The PE scheme regarded the engineering effort leading to the 30% documents and involved the bridge's location and some design elements. Key engineering elements included the concrete slab deck that supports the rail, safety railing, beams or spanning elements, columns, and in some designs, crossbeams to support the spanning elements. In each scheme, column elements would be concrete, and spanning elements could be either steel or concrete.
 - He confirmed the concrete deck had been modified to extend beyond the spanning elements. The sides of the deck were pulled in as much as possible to create more of a ribbon-like element.
 - Concrete supporting structures last longer and have fewer maintenance issues than steel support elements.
 - To achieve a ribbon-like effect, a graceful line curving through the landscape and a consistent spanning material, either all concrete or all steel, was needed. At the level of pedestrians/bicyclists, TriMet hoped to create textural/sculptural effects to project that sense of craft.

- Concrete Tub scheme. The displayed scheme was comprised of a concrete deck, open railing, concrete tubs as support beams; simple, round, unadorned columns, 5 to 6 ft in diameter; and a concrete crossbeam supporting the spanning beams.
 - Several views of the proposed bridge were shown, as seen from different locations to indicate how the bridge would look on the site.
 - He noted that if a concrete scheme were chosen, it was likely they could achieve a consistent concrete material even along the curve spanning over McLoughlin Blvd.
 - The pedestrian bridge structure shown on one slide had not been designed yet, but was simply a placeholder. A pair of columns was represented on each bank of Kellogg Lake and the pedestrian bridge would span the distance between them.
 - One advancement the team was trying to attain was to eliminate a column in Kellogg Lake, which afforded advantages with regard to permitting and cost.
 - An example was shown of an elevated light rail alignment in the Seattle area with all concrete piers that curved over a roadway, which was similar to the Kellogg Bridge structure. The main difference between the structures was that the Seattle railway used a single tub, which was a little deeper with a slightly different configuration. The precast double concrete tubs used for Kellogg Bridge would be crisper; and not as canted at the edges. The proposed tubs were more efficient for the proposed project which was wider with double light rail tracks.
 - **Mr. Mikolovich** speculated that the Seattle example could use a single, narrower tub because it was deeper. The shallower and wider tubs being proposed would produce a thinner profile on the landscape.
 - The traffic clearance on McLoughlin Blvd was also an issue. About 18 feet of clearance was required from any part of the ground plane to the underside of the structure, and could be one reason a shallower tub was being considered. Also, a higher structure would require a steeper track, and therefore a longer length to reach grade. Extending the track would negatively impact the Trolley Trail.
 - Comparison information was requested by the Commission about the simplicity of the Seattle structure versus the proposed double tub system. Retaining components to ensure an attachment mechanism was available for a pedestrian bridge was critical.
- Steel tub scheme. The main difference was that the material was a weathering steel that naturally weathers to a rust-colored patina and needs no painting. Dual tubs and 5-ft round columns supported a concrete deck, which had a flared edge, creating a finer profile for the bridge. The handrails were also constructed of weathering steel. Because of the columns' simplicity, a textural effect would be probably used on the columns. Examples were shown of different patterns that would enrich the visual experience at the pedestrian level.
 - The structural design of the bridge had not advanced to the degree to know for sure whether the crossbeams would be used or if the column could tuck up right under the spanning elements.
 - Depending upon the spans, which varied from about 110 to 200 ft or more, the tub elements would come in sections about 60 or 70 ft long. At third points, splice joints which are a plate applied to the outside with a series of bolt heads, would be seen. In some ways, this would enhance the ribbon effect by giving a rhythmic textural element along the spanning element.
 - The tubs were premanufactured offsite and lifted by crane onto the supporting structure where they were held in place by temporary shoring at the splice points until spliced. The temporary shoring would then be removed to reveal the finished bridge. A beam was at the same elevation as the main beams to provide enough support without the crossbeam; it was just not visible in the slide.
 - Looking at the underside, one could appreciate either the detail or the more continuous look overall.

- The pairs of tubs were moved as closely as possible to almost right under the tracks resulting in a lot more extension of deck over the top which made the deck look lighter, whether steel or concrete. This provided a bigger reveal and emphasized the thin profile of the deck.
 - With many similar bridges, the distance from the face of the beam to the outer edge of the deck was sometimes 1 ft or 2 ft. Pushing the tubs closer together gave the effect of a lighter silhouette for the overall bridge and the eye was drawn to the very narrow line at the outer edge, supporting the ribbon concept.
- Shrouding the columns in steel was suggested to reduce mass of the columns. This would help control fracturing of the concrete and increase the strength without increasing the interior structural elements, possibly decreasing the column dimension.
 - The team had begun exploring the idea of using a weathering steel pipe as the casement and formwork for the concrete center, but had not determined the cost implications or whether the size of the columns would be reduced.
 - The columns in this scheme were smaller than the PE scheme because 5 ft was determined to be safe for all the columns, and they could be as small as 4 ft in diameter, which was something they would be considering.
 - Smaller diameter columns helped with the ground plane relate to the human scale, and help with sight lines. The difficulty was the overall proportion of the columns. The tubs had to be sized to carry the loads and their thickness would direct the proportion of the rest of the bridge to a great degree. If it was too thin structurally, it would look like it was going to tip over.
- The weathering steel material would be darker than concrete which would recede in the landscape. The reddish brown color was also sympathetic to the natural setting of Kronberg Park.
 - Staining the concrete the same color as the weathering steel was currently being investigated. They wanted to be sure the coloring was even and would be consistent over time. The stain would be within the concrete itself so would not change color when things such as graffiti were removed.
- Views of the steel tub bridge were also presented from different perspectives.
- Changing from double piers to single piers midway through the bridge seemed jarring visually. Had the option been explored to continue with double piers?
 - Continuing with single piers had actually been studied, but some structural issues existed in terms of supporting the bridge that had not been fully investigated yet. The bridge had to be centered on the columns, whether single or double. The single-centered column would be at each end of the bridge, but the deck would come off the bridge before reaching the column.
 - The pedestrian bridge was approximately level with the top of the bank of the river or lake. That image illustrated one pair of the double piers; the other pair would be at the other end of the pedestrian bridge.
 - TriMet began exploring the idea of having no column in the lake because the experience of the lake was more open and accessible with one less set of columns.
 - An image of an existing project was displayed to show the color of the weathering steel and how the splice plates and bulkheads looked in reality.
- Steel I-beams scheme. This third option used the weathering steel spanning element with steel Ibeams instead of tubs. The beams are about the same depth as the other two schemes at about 6.5 to 7 ft deep for the actual spanning element. It had the same concrete deck with a slightly more sculptural column support.
 - All the schemes were in the same cost range but with some tradeoffs.

- The steel tubs were slightly more expensive than the I-beams, and the sculptural column was more expensive than the simple column. If the tubs were a priority, a simpler column would be used; if the sculptural column element was more of a priority, the less expensive I-beam spanning elements would be used.
- This scheme was more sculptural in that the column flared slightly from the bottom to top where a steel crossbeam element acted as a transitional element from the column to the bridge spanning elements.
- The aesthetic material qualities were the same as the tub scheme in the weathering steel. This scheme had more of an industrial feel, and a more open, less finished presence to the underside of the spanning elements.
- While flaring sonotubes out a little bit at the top would not cost that much, anything other than a round form required custom form work and increased costs. The structural engineers had advised that no matter what shape the concrete column, a 5-ft core would be cast with a sonotube. The sono tube would be torn off, additional form work would be put outside, and then the special shape would be cast.
 - The preliminary costing for the 13 columns in the PE scheme showed an additional \$500,000 to get that shape for the columns, which would be traded off against the less expensive I-beams. TriMet was considering being able to remove 3 columns, which would save money in concrete, footings, and form work.
 - Using shotcrete as the skin for the flared columns was a great idea that would be brought to the structural engineer. This material provided a more textural element as well.
- The issue of birds was brought up; the 1,700 linear feet on each of the 4 I-beams would create a lot of nesting area, unlike the tub scheme.
- On I-beam bridges, the outer beams were fairly clean, but the inner beams got very dingy, which might be a greater maintenance issue long term.
 - In Chicago, cyclone fences were erected to keep the homeless from gathering in the Ibeams and prevent homeland security issues, such as explosives being placed in the beams. The fences looked ugly and attracted garbage.
 - Was fencing being considered where the bridge adjoined the Trolley Trail.
 - TriMet had discussed the bird issue, but not issues about keeping people out. Mr. Mikolovich noted the team was aware of the issues and would take them into consideration with regard to this scheme.
- Examples of typical I-beam schemes were displayed.
- Not represented in the model were cross braces at 1/3 or 1/2 points that could be cross braces or a solid element. The cross braces would be every 70 ft or so. This was true of the tub scheme as well, and would probably be a solid, cross bracing element in that scheme.

Comments and questions regarding the proposed Kellogg Bridge continued from the Commission and DLC with responses from the TriMet design team as follows:

- The pedestrian bridge was relatively parallel to Kronberg Park and its elevation was quite level. The north bank was a bit lower than the south bank but not as severe as one might think. Boardwalks would run through the Kronberg Park landscape and connect at some point to each end of the bridge.
- More detail was requested about the catenaries system, which could potentially look like part of the structure or just more tacked on.
 - The distance between the catenary support poles varied along the length of the structure, but averaged 90 to 100 ft on center. Typically, single poles would be used. The poles were intended to be center mounted and round. The system was a significant element. The round

shape created less shadow and helped reduce the mass. For the material, black steel was being considered to match the downtown Milwaukie color scheme.

- The proposed, clean looking, renderings did not reflect the details of the system seen in the Seattle example.
- The vertical supports of the railing system needed to be 5-ft on center with a top rail, and the other horizontal elements would be cable. This would make for a very transparent appearance, providing light rail riders a bigger experience of the landscape and contributing to the sense of a less massive bridge.
 - **Mr. Mikolovich** preferred that the railing colors match the bridge, not the poles, because that repetitive element helped enforce the ribbon concept.
- While a cable would keep someone from falling off as well as a handrail, a cable was not as comfortable; however, safety was a bigger concern than comfort. The building code and OSHA regulations would be checked regarding the possible use of cable as opposed to a handrail. The cable option fit in with the lightness being sought and put less visual clutter between the passenger and landscape.
- The railing was intended for employees so intrusion protection was being considered, similar to that used in tunnels and other TriMet structures, to keep people off the bridge. Sensors would be placed to indicate when something entered the bridge and an alert would be sent to the safety and security personnel who would use a camera to see if it was a deer or a person, in which case, security would be dispatched.
- Noise was a concern given the metal-on-metal wheel noise and reverberation off the concrete. Perhaps having more of a wall instead of a cable railing system would be better.
 - A noise study was conducted as part of the Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS) and the locations of noise sound walls along the alignment were considered. No issues were identified for portion of the bridge going over the lake and stretching around, so TriMet moved toward keeping it more open. Another factor was the sight line considerations at the Lake Road Station, so having the railing more transparent would help people see the trains and the train operators see people.
 - To address squeal noise, a track lubricator was already factored into the design that kicked in for any curve under a certain radius. The system would dispense track lubrication with every passing train to avoid wheel squeal. This was already in place at multiple other light rail locations based on the gradient of the curve.
- None of the three design schemes seemed consistent with or complementary to the adjoining structures, such as the trestle, but were in stark contrast to them. Were other design concepts explored?
 - The TriMet team started with the fact that the trestle was an artifact and icon for the community. They looked at railroad tradition, complementary structures and ways to mimic that form. The trestle was very complex and muscular and yet it possessed transparency and light, which was difficult to mimic with today's construction materials and technology. Different forms and column shapes were considered, but many were too big to conform to the sight clearance lines. The team concluded that it would be best to put something very simple and plain next the trestle to feature the trestle rather than mimic it.
 - If they tried too hard to mimic the trestle or aspects of its character, it could tend to diminish the trestle. One thing attractive about the trestle was the play of light and shadow that all the stick work created. Some early schemes had a series of thin elements alluding to the character of light and shadow, but it was difficult to make sense of it costwise and structurally.
 - Kellogg Bridge was a structure in its own right, and the contrast would allow the trestle to stand on its own.

- Decisions made tonight would help guide the artists, who are from Oakland, CA, in creating
 public art for the project. The artists were very engaged in the idea of creating pattern, whether
 columns, fences, or the underside of the bridge. The artists had discussed sleeving the structure,
 which was a wrap over each element, but this was expensive, and a wrapped bridge could not
 be inspected. The artists were waiting for decisions about materials, and for the architectural and
 structural issues to have some more definitive direction before deciding how to approach the
 project.
- With \$250,000 being allocated to the large conceptual artists, why spend more money on weathered steel if the steel was going to be covered up? Would the artwork be permanent or removed in 5 years? If a concrete scheme was chosen, where would that savings over the weatherized steel go?
 - The artists were interested in the interactions where points of circulation connect, such as where the bridge met the roadway, the Trolley Trail, smaller roads, etc. The tub option would provide more opportunity to do more with their limited budget and interact with the structure a bit more in those locations. There was not enough funding to completely cover the steel. The art would provide a sort of accent at those locations.
 - The artists' ability to interact diminished a bit with the I-beam option because it required some type of substructure to connect those points to do what they were interested in. If the I-beam option was chosen, the artists might want to look at other locations or just have a smaller impact.
 - The artists' focus was on the main points of view: pedestrian and traffic interactions. They were interested in the flow of movements with cars and pedestrians.
 - Putting shapes and movements and other things on the bridge busied up Kellogg Lake, because it added to everything happening with the trestle. The TriMet team felt the same way and would be discussing that with the artists.
- It was fascinating that the pedestrian crossing was not part of TriMet's project, but was the City's project.
 - Leah Robbins, Project Manager, TriMet, clarified that the City and TriMet submitted a TE Grant application for this whole portion of the project, the pedestrian crossing, and the boardwalk at Kronberg Park. The TriMet commitment with the design of the structure was that, whether it was built with the TE grant funds or later, TriMet had incorporated additional costs into the structure during PE to hold the bones of the pedestrian structure.
 - The City was matching funds for parts of the boardwalk at the park. The project was named among the finalists for the TE Grant, and the review committee requested additional visuals, which had been provided. The decision would be rendered in about a month.
 - The pedestrian bridge seemed like an afterthought.
 - As a non-car oriented world, a pedestrian crossing of the lake made a lot of sense in the 1950s. The goal was to move back to a non-car oriented world. Pedestrian and bicycle crossings were planned into the bridge across the Willamette River that was going to be paid for and built by TriMet. How was this missed? Why was this not built into the original design of this bridge?
 - The cost consideration of \$500,000 was discussed for tapered versus non-tapered columns, yet the City was fighting to get a pedestrian bridge.
 - Ms. Robbins responded that during the preliminary hearings, TriMet looked at all the connections from the Trolley Trail to downtown Milwaukie and whether the grade of bringing pedestrians up onto the light rail structure made sense given the connections and the scale of the city. They looked at it both from the Trolley Trail connection and also the pedestrian connection and discussed where the right level was to bring pedestrians. It

was not an afterthought but rather an outgrowth of the overall look at the pedestrian connections from Island Station, Trolley Trail, and downtown Milwaukie.

- The Willamette River bridge was likened to a 7- course meal while Milwaukie was getting ala carte.
- Was the option of a pedestrian bridge considered, and then decided not to proceed with it?
 - The bones of the pedestrian bridge had been incorporated, more environmental efforts were then added from the permitting agency, and whether it should be a separate structure or attached to the light rail structure was considered. It was part of the mix going forth, but it was not part of the original concept that created the overall budget.
- Why was the pedestrian bridge not part of the original concept?
 - The project's focus was connecting the light rail alignment over McLoughlin Blvd versus future pedestrian connections. Fundamentally, the structure would be there and everyone had aspirations that funding would be available to make the pedestrian bridge work, but not at the light rail part of the project.
- **Commissioner Stoll** asked how some of the City's design recommendations were going to be addressed in the design; for example, "Design, and scale, and details of the structure to be an asset to the Island Station neighborhood." He wanted to see a rendering from the Island Station neighborhood at ground level and a rendering showing what the bridge would look like coming down River Road and going under the structure. It was a gateway for travelers into Milwaukie. He wanted to see additional perspectives, especially more aerial perspectives from the riverfront and Island Station. At the next presentation, he hoped for a lot more information to make aesthetic judgments. He hated concrete tubs, which looked like a highway interchange. He was willing to go for steel tubs or I-beams. He wanted the structural tubs or I-beams as narrow as possible for the greatest reveal. He did not want straight cylinders either; they should be flared.
 - **Mr. Doran** explained that the intent of tonight's meeting was to get feedback on material and shape. Universally, it seemed steel was the preferred direction, and that tubs were preferred to I-beams. TriMet would take this information to the design team, focus on those architectural treatments, and start looking at land use requirements and all the guidelines to begin making responses. It was hard for the architect to make those choices before decisions were made about materials and shape.
- While concrete I-beams were more common and the most cost-effective, in the three proposed designs, concrete or steel tubs, or steel I-beams, the structural spanning members followed the curve of the track above to achieve a ribbon effect.
 - The Commission and DLC were being asked to pick a generic material and preferred shape, as well as feedback about the railing type, fence shape, and to address some of the guidelines, etc. The designs presented were not the actual designs.
- Because of traffic going underneath the bridge and the angle presented, there was not enough clearance to create a visual transition using gently curved arches going from column to column to support the tubs.
- A lot of criteria were involved in terms of material choices, structural elements, and the bridge design in addition to the marriage of architecture and structure, aesthetics and proportion. While some details needed to be considered, the design team needed to be released to develop the structure to 60% very soon, and they had to have a direction. This project needed to be narrowed down to one structure type. That direction was critical at this point.
 - **Mr. Mikolovich** explained that if the I-beams were preferred but were considered too plain, ribs could be added to the outside of the I-beam members structurally, probably at about 7 or 8 ft on center, to give the effect of light and shadow and possibly lighten the structure to a certain extent. If that type of direction was given, the TriMet team could begin exploring those issues with the engineers and return with something in response.

Chair Klein called for a break at 8:20 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 8:37 p.m. He called for any public comment.

Fred Nelligan, stated that he represented Oak Grove on the Citizen Advisory Committee. He noted that Oak Grove considered this as a gateway to their community and appreciated everything being done. He asked the City to remember this was a holistic project that would really benefit both communities and possibly bring them together. He liked the weathered steel tub look; the idea of dressing the columns, whether cylindrical or tapered, with the weathered steel sounded very interesting.

Discussion continued as follows:

- It was noted that Historic Milwaukie Neighborhood District Association (ND) Chair Dion Shepard expressed concerns at the NDA meeting about sound and the train headlights sweeping through various bedrooms in the community. Mr. Nelligan had been doing a lot of work on the issue of headlights coming into or out of McLoughlin Blvd and shining into windshields, homes, and businesses and had spent 7 months working on the issue.
 - **Mr. Doran** acknowledged this was an issue especially along McLoughlin Blvd, and they understood that the lights are hard to look at. TriMet hoped to do what they can help screen that corridor, and perhaps put some larger trees around that area to help with the issue. It was hoped this could be discussed with ODOT and other jurisdictions.
 - Going south on I-205, the train headlight shined directly into southbound traffic, which prevented drivers from seeing in front of them. It was suggested that the light be aimed away or have a blinder installed.
 - TriMet's safety and security people had given a little feedback on that issue. Adding the light to the trains significantly increased the security and decreased safety issues by alerting people and helping minimize impacts.
 - As one was headed southbound on McLoughlin Blvd, headlights would be in drivers' eyes on both sides of the road.
 - **Mr. Doran** explained that the trees along McLoughlin Blvd would be a great solution to help green up the street and also in some ways extending the Trolley Trail.
- The relationship between the Trolley Trail and light rail was unclear since the rail was actually grounded as it headed toward the park. This would help with understanding this as it related to the headlights as well as the train and traffic.
 - **Mr. Doran** replied the team would definitely look at all that in more detail, specifically the Trolley Trail, walls, plant design, etc.
- Information was requested about whether shielding direct emanation of noise from the track toward the neighborhoods would be effective. The shielding could be done along the edge of the deck.
- Ms. Shepard also inquired about any speed restrictions on the bridge, just as speed restrictions existed in certain other zones. This would help reduce noise as well.
 - The curve of the rail effectively was a speed restriction as it was a 25 mph designed curve. South of the curve at the park, the train could speed up, but going northbound crossing McLoughlin Blvd on that curve, the train would slow to the design speed of that curve.
- Did the sound study consider the fact that there was a waterway and valley with the train above it, which would cause an echo chamber effect?
 - That echoing and discussion about any noise the steel tubs and structure made came up at the outreach meeting. The issue was discussed with the structural engineer, and in this case it would not be an issue because it was not boxed enough to cause sound to echo.

- **Commissioner Churchill** noted that nothing in the Portland Metro area was equivalent to this condition with a train over the lake. On Hwy 101 in Mill Valley, CA, as it crossed at Richardson Bay, the reverberation effect was a factor. He would like to understand a little more about the studies that concluded that this would not be a problem.
- Mr. Doran agreed to provide additional information about the studies.
- The location where the bridge came back around along McLoughlin Blvd and hit grade was indicated on the aerial photo; it was not as far down as the ODOT gravel site. The abutment was also indicated, as well as walls on each side of the track that tapered back down to grade and the Trolley Trail.
 - TriMet had to acquire the ODOT gravel pit site due to the change in access. The Trolley Trail diverged from being totally tangent with the light rail, into the gravel pit site, and around one of the large Sequoia trees. The rest of that ODOT property could be used for many things or sold.
 - Although some people who lived in that area wanted some of the pavement to be taken up, the City was not aware of any discussions to do that at this time.
- A local example of the weathered steel could be found on the Springwater Corridor; the bridge east of the big orange bridge that went over the freight track was rusted steel. It was not the same structure type, but it was the same material.
- Were there degrees of weathering features in the steel? Coreten steel had been a popular option, or was it degrees of weathering, or variations of it used?
- Was there an example of a tub construction that was close in scale to get an idea how the proposed bridge would look with that much surface area?
 - Although the beams were different than structures supporting rail or vehicles, the pedestrian bridge actually had probably a four or five section. The team agreed to find an example of a more similar structure.
- The difference between the depths of the I-beam and tub schemes was a matter of 4 or 5 in and not really perceivable. The span was the driver of that depth.
 - The tubs maintained the same height all the way through the structure, but could change in size because the spans were different to some degree. In trying to achieve that continuous ribbon effect, the tubs would be the same depth consistently across the 1,700 ft. A thicker steel plate was used in the tub where the spans were larger. The external appearance was a continuous, same depth section.
- There was an abutment at the south end, and the tubs did start to come down to grade. But since the Trolley Trail came in front of that abutment, about 14 or 15 ft of clearance existed where the tubs land on that abutment. The abutment had retaining walls that tapered down to the ground. The I-beams and the concrete tubs would all be uniform in that same way.

Commissioner Churchill stated he was not a major supporter of the alignment, but was pleased with the design team. The devil would be in the details. He was withholding praise until after the budget process. If he learned that the budget had killed all this effort regarding weathering steel, he would be quite upset. He was pleasantly surprised with the results of the redirections. He liked the weathering steel tub with the tapered column, possibly with a beam at the top that supported it. The bridge would be a great feather in the cap of TriMet to have a successful bridge that did not look like the Johnson Creek overpass, and reflected the effort that everyone made on the design.

Chair Klein directed the Commission and DLC to address the following items in their comments:

- Structure shape: I-beam or tubs
- Structural material: weathered steel or concrete
- Column shape: round or tapered

• Other comments/feedback on the relationship to the environment, railings, etc.

Commissioner Churchill favored tapered columns and ideally with Coreten steel, or possibly with shotcrete to get texture and color. He favored steel tubs as the structural shape.

Ms. Gamba stated that after reading through the Design Guidelines for downtown Milwaukie, she preferred the tapered steel tub columns and recommended either a stained concrete or a steel wrap so the coloring of the tubs was carried further down into the pedestrian experience. She was disappointed that the bridge was not pedestrian-ready. She believed all steps needed to be taken to push forward with that, because the guidelines were very much about pedestrian experience.

Commissioner Stoll liked the steel, tapered columns and the idea of putting them inside a steel wrap. Using a steel form was an interesting idea. He was agnostic as to I-beams or tubs, but wanted the bridge to be narrow, so there was a big reveal on the deck.

Ms. Wisner stated they needed to do whatever possible to prevent the bridge from looking like a huge monolithic pile of concrete. She advocated weathered steel and opposed the excessive use of concrete. She would like to see the steel or stained concrete create a cohesive unified unit from the tubs or I-beams down to the total length of the support columns.

- The I-beams had a really interesting linear feel, and tended to have more of a historic feel in relationship to the trestle, because the trestle was very skeletal. She was concerned about birds nesting, and did not want this to become an eyesore, so she understood the issue with maintenance. The more they could do to make it look good for long periods of time with less maintenance the better.
- She advocated for the steel tubs and preferred that the columns be as minimalized as possible. She did not advocate a heavy cross support beam because that would add heaviness to the overall design. She would like to see a tapered column on the lighter side, so there was a transition going up into the load-bearing area of the tubs, so it would not look like a stick stuck onto a horizontal beam. She would also like to see the structure all as one weathering earth tone that would blend with the surrounding environment through the seasons and blend in with the color of the trestle.

Commissioner Batey agreed with comments made about the material. She originally liked the beams, but in retrospect, the tubs made more sense. She preferred that the tubs be as close together as possible so the reveal was as wide as possible to minimize the visual impact. She liked the steel tubs and the railing that matched the tubs. She was agnostic about the taper or no taper on the supports; however, not having them be in plain concrete was important, whether wrapped in steel or stained.

- The neighbors in the Island Station neighborhood were concerned about the new PGE poles. It would be useful to have a visual from coming down River Road that showed the poles and the proposed Kellogg Bridge for the next open house.
- She would also like to see any examples that were as close as possible to the steel being used in a tub final version, which she would drive to see, as well as physical examples to check out the sound issue, especially on elevated curves

Ms. Ives favored the steel tubs. She was not concerned about the shape of the column and agreed that scale was more important than shape.

Commissioner Gamba definitely wanted weathered steel, and would like to see using it explored from the ground through the catenaries, with the platform being the only concrete visible. He was

agnostic as to tubs versus I-beams. He initially liked the I-beams because they were a nod to the trestle with a more industrial, skeletal look; he was still not convinced this was not the right way to go. He had become more comfortable with the tubs, and could live with them if that was the general consensus.

- The steel wrap was really intriguing, and would be a finishing touch that would really work. The tapering with a cross member was the right way to go, but with the steel wrap or at least the staining.
- He noted that the pedestrian emphasis of the Design Guidelines stated, "Reinforce and enhance the pedestrian system," not the pedestrian experience, but the pedestrian system, "so that the pedestrian is the priority in all development projects." This was actually written into the Design Guidelines. He would have a really hard time approving anything that did not have a pedestrian bridge across the lake. It needed to be in the design. If they didn't get the grant, they needed to start scrambling, because he wanted to see it built with the bridge; by all measures of sticking to the Design Guidelines, it would have to be.
- He would also like to see the construction methods and any considerations for sustainability addressed; keeping the lake clean and the parks from being damaged permanently. Keeping sustainability in mind throughout the project was critical.

Mr. Perrault liked the idea of the I-beams at first, but saw the inherent problems. He was okay with the tubs, but believed they should be brought closer together so more of the deck was exposed and there was less of a big shadowed area. He was a fan of the weathered steel and tapered columns.

- The finish of the deck itself had not been addressed. If steel or stained columns were used with the weathered steel tub and a crisp white deck, it would be the equivalent of a farmer's tan.
- Another very important issue to take into consideration was to only disturb the environment once and construct the pedestrian bridge with the rest of the project so Kellogg Lake would not be built over twice. With the lake being intended to become a salmon habitat sooner than later, the construction should only be done once so as to lessen the impact on that environment.

DLC Chair Hemer preferred tubs, weathered steel, straight versus tapered columns, and some sort of designer coloring on the columns.

- He commented that it seemed there was a protection or nondescript overall general view and everybody was protected, but then all of a sudden a decision was made that was not really what was wanted, and pretty soon it was done and over and any input was lost.
- He understood there were budget issues and that other areas of the project would take precedence over the bridge. He hated to see it all fall to the wayside and feared that their opinions would not be heard.
- He worried about pedestrian bridges and narrow planned steel I-beams because somebody from National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) or the Army Corps of Engineers would say predatory fish habitat was being created in the lake because of the big shadow line. He hoped that issue would be resolved quickly so it was off the table right away, because those agencies had the last look, and could deny the project.
- He appreciated how TriMet was handling things. He hoped that they followed through, that everything went according to plan, and that TriMet listened to the input about the designs.

Chair Klein liked the tubs, the steel and tapered columns; however he had a number of concerns. In the decision making process, it made people feel important when they could make decisions; however the decisions presented before this body were not overly crucial.

• He was concerned that they were worried and concerned about \$500,000 in a \$1.5 billion project. In the overall cost, this was a miniscule amount. If at this stage they were looking at rationing it down and tying this dollar amount down, that was somewhat of a concern.

- He felt a bit like he was trying to buy a car and wanted a really nice Prius with GPS, etc., but he was just looking at the frame, which looked pretty cool, but in reality in 6 months or 3 years, he would end up with a Yugo that was not all that great. This was his concern.
- He believed Milwaukie would get what they would get because they were afforded and not necessarily because that was what the community wanted. This was an ala carte type thing, and once things were done further up the light rail line, Milwaukie would get the left over scraps.
- Though a bit off topic, creating a Master Plan for Kronberg Park was absolutely important and needed to be done before this project started. As confident as people were in getting the grant to build the walkway underneath Kellogg Bridge, they could go out and look for funds to be able to develop the area as a park. He was making a pretty big assumption, but it was only logical that the park would be used as a staging area. As TriMet and the construction crews were leaving that area, it should be built into the park.

Chair Klein summarized the consensus of the Commission and DLC in providing direction for the TriMet team: tubs for the structure shape, weathered steel as the material, and tapered columns.

Commissioner Gamba added that everyone wanted the columns to be steel cased or at the very least stained to match the weathered steel.

Chair Klein noted that in Bend, the main corridor had concrete form retaining walls that were not a consistent color and looked like natural stone. It was beautiful and looked like the type of rock found in that area. He believed this could be incorporated on this project; but if they were worried about \$500,000, it would take that much to integrate it into the environment. He certainly hoped \$500,000 was not the issue; that really scared him.

Mr. Doran thanked the Commission and DLC, adding that it was refreshing that the group was so engaged, asking good questions, and providing good feedback. The team was leaving with a positive outlook and he was optimistic knowing what was being done behind the scenes and what the team was capable of doing.

Commissioner Churchill stated that with regard to budget, as much passion and support that TriMet had for the current direction, if they returned with the decision that the bridge was going to be concrete, there would be three times that much passion in the wrong direction.

Ms. Mangle noted that the Commission was the decision maker on the Williamette Greenway, Design Review, and Natural Resource applications; the DLC was the chief recommending body for the Design Review. As the designs were developed over the next several months, she sought feedback about whether they wanted to continue to have joint meetings, a subcommittee, or Commissioners joining the DLC.

- She understood that one design featuring or one structure material type would be presented that would continue to be refined in terms of its different elements, such as the railing.
- There would probably be one more meeting between now and the hearings with more information than would probably be presented at the open house. It was important that the Commission and DLC got the information they needed.

Ms. Wiser asked if a little variation was possible in that TriMet could show how the comments would be culminated and show different options with a straight column, a slightly tapered column, and a more pronounced taper to the column providing a stepped view indicating the options.

Mr. Doran stated that TriMet would take the comments, look at the cost impacts, and see what needed to be considered further. They will talk to the design team, taking into consideration all the land use issues, Design Guidelines, etc., and start making those responses. He proposed evolving those designs with staff and return to the group to discuss the details of that progression. Now that the structural issue was addressed, they wanted to lay the foundation for the architectural decisions soon and get a lot of that evolution resolved early in order to get the preapplication decisions made. The TriMet team wanted to return to this group soon with some of those decisions, and then the details would continue to be tweaked in the coming months.

DLC Chair Hemer inquired whether the Commission wanted the DLC to view what the scale was and make the changes as they saw fit, or should they all meet together.

Commissioner Gamba stated that however it was done scheduling-wise, it would be a good idea for both bodies to be together in the same room.

Ms. Mangle said they would see how it played out in terms of schedule and she would contact everyone about how to get everybody back together when the time was right.

Ms. Mayer-Reed stated the next public meeting would be held on April 4th and the design team would probably not be able to push the design to another level by that point. It would probably be okay to show some of the similar images at that open house that were shown here tonight, and basically endorse the direction. It would take time to evolve the designs according to the direction provided. She appreciated there being such unanimity about the direction, adding it was really a pleasure to work with the group.

DLC Chair Hemer urged the Commission to please keep the Sellwood neighborhood and traffic in mind when it came time to look at the Tacoma Station, as well as what ODOT could do to make that project better. It was a snarling nightmare. He was disappointed that the Commission would not review that project. He hoped that the traffic, lighting, security, and everything involved with that site did not discourage it from being used.

- Mr. Doran assured that Chair Hemer's statements would be considered.
- Ms. Robbins explained that TriMet would be going to the City of Portland's design review for updates and would be able to convey the concerns as the design developed. She announced that funding had been secured and ODOT was going to put in a left-hand turn lane, and that change would be effected before the Kellogg Bridge project was built.

6.0 Worksession Items – None

7.0 Forecast for Future Meetings: Planning Commission

March 22, 2011
April 12, 2011
Public Hearing: ZA-11-01/CPA-11-01 Natural Resource Regulations
Public Hearing: WQR-11-01 Johnson Creek Confluence project tentative

Ms. Mangle briefly reviewed the future meetings forecast, and encouraged the Commission to contact Mr. Kelver with any questions regarding the Natural Resource Regulations.

Design & Landmarks Committee

March 23, 2011 1. Meeting Cancelled April 27, 2011 1. TBD

Meeting adjourned at 8:53 p.m.

es in the second second second second

Respectfully submitted,

Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, Inc. for Alicia Stoutenburg, Administrative Specialist II

Lisa Batev

Planning Commission Chair

Greg "Frank" Hemer DLC Chair